
        
        
                
To Theo van Gogh. Arles, on or about Sunday, 25 March 1888.



            

            
    

    
        
            1r:1
            

            Mon cher Theo,
            

            ta lettre m’a fait 
grand plaisir, je t’en remercie 
ainsi que du billet de 50 fr.–
            

            Je te felicite beaucoup de la 
lettre de Tersteeg – je la trouve 
absolument satisfaisante.
                
            

            Je suis persuadé qu’il n’y a rien 
de blessant dans son silence à mon 
égard, d’ailleurs il y aura compté 
que tu me ferais lire sa réponse. 
Puis c’est beaucoup plus pratique 
qu’il n’aie à écrire qu’à toi, et en 
tant que quant à moi, s’il ne trouve 
pas absolument mauvais ce que je 
fais tu verras qu’il m’écrira un mot 
aussitôt qu’il aura vu mon travail. 
Encore une fois donc, je suis 
plus content de sa réponse simple 
et bienveillante que je ne saurais 
te l’exprimer.
            

            Tu auras remarqué qu’il se déclare 
disposé à faire l’achat d’un Monticelli 
bonne qualité pour sa propre collection.– 
Si tu lui disais que nous possédons 
dans notre collection un bouquet 
de fleurs qui est plus artistique et 
plus beau qu’un bouquet de Diaz.
                    1
                
            

            Que Monticelli prenait quelquefois 
un bouquet de fleurs, pour motif 
de rassembler sur un seul panneau 
toute la gamme de ses tons les plus 
riches et les mieux équilibrés. Et qu’il 
faut aller directement à Delacroix pour trouver 
à ce point l’orchestration des couleurs.
                    2
                
            1v:2
            

            Que – je veux parler du tabl. chez les 
Delarebeyrette3 – actuellement nous 
connaissons un autre bouquet de très--
                    
bonne qualité et à un prix raisonable 
et que nous le jugeons en tout cas très--
                    
supérieur aux Monticelli à figures 
qui courent les rues actuellement et 
appartiennent à une époque de decadence 
du talent de Monticelli.–
            

            J’espère que tu lui enverras la 
belle marine de Gauguin.–4 
Mais que cela me fait plaisir 
que Tersteeg aie répondu de 
cette façon.–
            

            Lorsque tu lui écriras, dis lui un 
mot de Russell.– Quand moi 
j’écrirai à Russell, je lui parlerai 
de ses tableaux et je lui demanderai 
de me faire un échange5 parce 
que nous désirerions le nommer 
et montrer ses tableaux 
lorsque’il y sera question de l’école 
Renaissance actuelle.–
            

            Je viens de faire un bouquet 
d’abricotiers en fleur dans 
un petit verger vert frais.
                    6
                
            

            Ai eu contrariété pour le 
coucher de soleil avec figures 
et un pont dont je parlais à Bernard.
                    7 
Le mauvais temps m’empêchant 
de travailler sur place, j’ai éreinté 
complètement cette étude en voulant 
la finir chez moi.
            1v:3
            

            Seulement j’ai aussitôt après 
recommencé le meme motif 
sur une autre toile mais le 
temps étant tout autre, dans 
une gamme grise et sans figures.
                    8
                
            

            Je ne trouverais pas mauvais que 
tu envoyes à Tersteeg une étude de 
moi – veux tu dire le pont de Clichy 
avec le ciel jaune et deux maisons 
qui se reflètent dans l’eau?9
                
            

            
            

            

            celle--
                    
là, ou les papillons10 ou le champ de coquelicots11 
pourraient aller à la rigueur. Cependant 
j’espère arriver à mieux ici.– 
Dans le cas où tu serais de cet avis, tu 
pourrais dire à Tersteeg que moimême 
crois avoir plus de chance de vente en 
Hollande avec les études de la 
nature du midi, et que lorsque 
Tersteeg viendra à Paris au mois 
de Mai il trouvera un envoi de 
quelques motifs d’ici.
                    12
                
            

            Merci bien encore aussi de toutes 
les démarches que tu a faites pour 
l’exposition des Indépendants, je suis en 
somme bien content qu’ils les ont 
placés avec les autres impressionistes.
                    13 
Mais – quoique pour cette fois ci 
cela ne fasse absolument rien – dans 
la suite il faudra insérer mon nom 
dans le catalogue tel que je le 
signe sur les toiles, c. à d. Vincent 
et non pas Vangogh pour l’excellente 
raison que ce dernier nom ne 
saurait se prononcer ici.
                    14
                
            1r:4
            

            Je te renvoie ci-inclus la lettre de 
Tersteeg et celle de Russell – il 
sera peutêtre intéressant de garder 
la correspondance des artistes.–15
                
            

            Si tu ajoutais à ton envoi la petite 
tête de Bretonne de l’ami Bernard 
ce ne serait pas mal.16 Faut lui 
montrer que tous les impressionistes 
sont bons et que ce qu’ils font 
est très varié.
            

            Je crois que notre ami Reid regrette 
de s’être brouillé, malheureusement 
il ne peut pas être question de 
lui offrir encore une fois les mêmes 
avantages – soit de chercher à lui 
faire avoir des tableaux en dépôt. 
Il ne suffit pas d’aimer les tableaux 
et il m’a semblé qu’il manquait de 
coeur pour les artistes.17 S’il change 
en tant que quant à cela ce ne sera 
pas d’ici à demain. Tersteeg 
a été l’ami personnel de Mauve et 
de bien d’autres et il a ce je ne sais 
quoi qui convainct les amateurs.– 
Tu verras que ce qui donne de l’aplomb 
c’est de connaître les gens.–
            

            Je t’écris encore de ces jours ci, seulement 
voulais immédiatement te féliciter 
pour la renaissance de tes 
relations avec la Hollande.–
            

            Poignée de main.
                
            

            

            b. à. t.
            

            Vincent
            

            

            la ville de Paris ne paye guère, regretterais 
de voir les Seurats dans un musee de province 
ou dans une cave – faudrait que ces tableaux 
restent entre mains vivantes.–18 Si Tersteeg 
voulait – – –. Si on fait les 3 expositions permanentes faudrait 
un grand Seurat19 pour Paris, pour Londres et pour Marseille.
            

        

        
            See for Monticelli
                
                        Adolphe Joseph Thomas Monticelli
                        
                         (1824-1886) French artist
                    ’s 
                            Vase of flowers
                        : letter 578, n. 4.
                    
            
                        Adolphe Joseph Thomas Monticelli
                        
                         (1824-1886) French artist
                    
            Van Gogh had previously referred to ‘symphonies of colours’; this choice of words may derive from Charles Blanc
                
                        Charles Blanc
                        
                         (1813-1882) French writer
                    , 
                            Grammaire des arts du dessin
                         and 
                            Les artistes de mon temps
                         See letter 537, n. 7.
                    
            
                        Charles Blanc
                        
                         (1813-1882) French writer
                    
            In the 1880s François Joseph Delarebeyrette
                
                        François Joseph Delarebeyrette
                        
                         (1825-1886) art dealer in Paris
                    ’s gallery was located at 43 rue de Provence in Paris. He was the leading dealer in Monticelli
                
                        Adolphe Joseph Thomas Monticelli
                        
                         (1824-1886) French artist
                    ’s work. After his death in September 1886, his wife and his son Gabriel took over the running of the business. Theo and Reid
                
                        Alexander Reid
                        
                         (1854-1928) Scottish art dealer
                     regularly bought work by Monticelli there. See Fowle 2000, p. 94, and Nonne 2000, p. 42.We do not know which of Monticelli’s flower pieces Van Gogh had seen at Delarebeyrette’s; in 1886 the gallery had some forty works by Monticelli in stock. See Alauzen and Ripert 1969, p. 447.
            
                        François Joseph Delarebeyrette
                        
                         (1825-1886) art dealer in Paris
                    
            
                        Adolphe Joseph Thomas Monticelli
                        
                         (1824-1886) French artist
                    
            
                        Alexander Reid
                        
                         (1854-1928) Scottish art dealer
                    
            See for Gauguin
                
                        Paul (Eugène Henri) Gauguin
                        
                         (1848-1903) French artist
                    ’s 
                            The beach at Dieppe
                        : letter 582, n. 5. Tersteeg
                
                        Hermanus Gijsbertus Tersteeg (H.G.T., T. or Mr T.)
                        
                         (1845-1927) art dealer at the Goupil gallery in The Hague
                     had asked Theo to send him a number of ‘modern’ paintings (see letter 592). At the end of March 1888 Theo sent a consignment to the Hague branch. It contained one work each by Degas
                
                        (Hilaire Germain) Edgar Degas
                        
                         (1834-1917) French artist
                    , Monet
                
                        Claude Oscar Monet
                        
                         (1840-1926) French artist
                    , Sisley
                
                        Alfred Sisley
                        
                         (1839-1899) French artist
                    , Camille Pissarro
                
                        Camille Jacob Pissarro
                        
                         (1830-1903) French artist
                    , Guillaumin
                
                        (Jean Baptiste) Armand Guillaumin
                        
                         (1841-1927) French artist
                    , Gauguin
                
                        Paul (Eugène Henri) Gauguin
                        
                         (1848-1903) French artist
                    , Van Gogh (The Seine with the Clichy bridge (F 303 / JH 1323), after which is the letter sketch of the same name F - / JH 1324; see n. 9 below) and Toulouse-Lautrec
                
                        Henri Marie Raymond de Toulouse-Lautrec
                        
                         (1864-1901) French artist
                    , and two by Monticelli
                
                        Adolphe Joseph Thomas Monticelli
                        
                         (1824-1886) French artist
                    . See exhib. cat. Amsterdam 1999, p. 81. On 18 April Monticelli’s 
                            Women with jewellery (Femmes aux bijoux) was sold to the Amsterdam art dealer E.J. van Wisselingh
                
                        Elbert Jan van Wisselingh
                        
                         (1848-1912) Dutch art dealer
                    ; the other paintings remained unsold and were sent back to Paris on 9 June (RKD, Goupil Ledgers and Jampoller 1986, p. 51).
            
                        Paul (Eugène Henri) Gauguin
                        
                         (1848-1903) French artist
                    
            
                        Hermanus Gijsbertus Tersteeg (H.G.T., T. or Mr T.)
                        
                         (1845-1927) art dealer at the Goupil gallery in The Hague
                    
            
                        (Hilaire Germain) Edgar Degas
                        
                         (1834-1917) French artist
                    
            
                        Claude Oscar Monet
                        
                         (1840-1926) French artist
                    
            
                        Alfred Sisley
                        
                         (1839-1899) French artist
                    
            
                        Camille Jacob Pissarro
                        
                         (1830-1903) French artist
                    
            
                        (Jean Baptiste) Armand Guillaumin
                        
                         (1841-1927) French artist
                    
            
                        Paul (Eugène Henri) Gauguin
                        
                         (1848-1903) French artist
                    
            
                        Henri Marie Raymond de Toulouse-Lautrec
                        
                         (1864-1901) French artist
                    
            
                        Adolphe Joseph Thomas Monticelli
                        
                         (1824-1886) French artist
                    
            
                        Elbert Jan van Wisselingh
                        
                         (1848-1912) Dutch art dealer
                    
            This exchange was discussed several times between March and July 1888, but does not seem to have gone ahead. Van Gogh had probably already exchanged work with Russell
                
                        John Peter Russell
                        
                         (1858-1930) Australian artist
                     in Paris; see letter 569, n. 13. Russell’s 
                             Vincent van Gogh
                         and the 
                            Seated female nude
                         that has meanwhile been attributed to him (both Amsterdam, Van Gogh Museum) may have been obtained by way of exchange. Russell owned two paintings by Van Gogh – only one of which, Shoes (F 332 / JH 1234), can now be identified – and one lithograph, ‘At eternity’s gate’ (F 1662 / JH 268). See cat. Amsterdam 2011.In August 1888 Van Gogh sent twelve drawings to Russell; see letters 652, n. 3 and 654, n. 1. This was not, though, related to the exchange suggested here.
            
                        John Peter Russell
                        
                         (1858-1930) Australian artist
                    
            
      Orchard with apricot trees in blossom (F 553 / JH 1387) or Orchard with apricot trees in blossom (F 556 / JH 1383). The description ‘fresh green’ is most applicable to the former work. Both paintings are of apricot trees (with thanks to Hans den Nijs, Experimental Plant Systematics, University of Amsterdam). The pink orchard (F 555 / JH 1380) was painted later; see letter 594.
            All that survives of this study is the fragment Walking couple (F 544 / JH 1369). Van Gogh described the study in letter 587 to Bernard
                
                        Emile Bernard
                        
                         (1868-1941) French artist and writer
                     (which was enclosed with letter 588 to Theo), and made the letter sketch The Langlois bridge with walking couple (F - JH 1370) after it.
            
                        Emile Bernard
                        
                         (1868-1941) French artist and writer
                    
            
      The Langlois bridge (F 400 / JH 1371).
            
      The Seine with the Clichy bridge (F 303 / JH 1323).
            
      Probably  Grass and butterflies (F 460 / JH 1676). The painting is now thought to belong to the Paris period (it had previously been dated to spring 1889). See cat. Amsterdam 2011.
            Probably Poppies in a wheatfield (F 562 / JH 1483), which likewise appears to date from the Paris period (previously dated June 1888). See cat. Amsterdam 2011.
            
                        Tersteeg
                
                        Hermanus Gijsbertus Tersteeg (H.G.T., T. or Mr T.)
                        
                         (1845-1927) art dealer at the Goupil gallery in The Hague
                    ’s trip to Paris took place a little later, in the first half of June: see letter 625.
            
                        Hermanus Gijsbertus Tersteeg (H.G.T., T. or Mr T.)
                        
                         (1845-1927) art dealer at the Goupil gallery in The Hague
                    
            Van Gogh exhibited three works at the Indépendants; see letter 582, n. 9. Angrand
                
                        Charles Angrand
                        
                         (1854-1926) French artist
                    , Anquetin
                
                        Louis Emile Anquetin
                        
                         (1861-1932) French artist
                    , Lucien Pissarro
                
                        Lucien Pissarro
                        
                         (1863-1944) French artist, son of Camille Pissarro
                    , Seurat
                
                        Georges Seurat
                        
                         (1859-1891) French artist
                     and Signac
                
                        Paul Signac
                        
                         (1863-1935) French artist
                     also had work there.
            Theo must have sent Vincent a copy of the catalogue, where it does indeed say ‘Van Gogh’, with Theo’s home address. See for the catalogue letter 582, n. 9.
                    
            
                        Charles Angrand
                        
                         (1854-1926) French artist
                    
            
                        Louis Emile Anquetin
                        
                         (1861-1932) French artist
                    
            
                        Lucien Pissarro
                        
                         (1863-1944) French artist, son of Camille Pissarro
                    
            
                        Georges Seurat
                        
                         (1859-1891) French artist
                    
            
                        Paul Signac
                        
                         (1863-1935) French artist
                    
            These letters from Tersteeg
                
                        Hermanus Gijsbertus Tersteeg (H.G.T., T. or Mr T.)
                        
                         (1845-1927) art dealer at the Goupil gallery in The Hague
                     and Russell
                
                        John Peter Russell
                        
                         (1858-1930) Australian artist
                     do not appear to have survived.
            
                        Hermanus Gijsbertus Tersteeg (H.G.T., T. or Mr T.)
                        
                         (1845-1927) art dealer at the Goupil gallery in The Hague
                    
            
                        John Peter Russell
                        
                         (1858-1930) Australian artist
                    
            See for the consignment n. 4 above; it did not include a work by Bernard
                
                        Emile Bernard
                        
                         (1868-1941) French artist and writer
                    . We have been unable to identify his ‘little head of a Breton woman’.
            
                        Emile Bernard
                        
                         (1868-1941) French artist and writer
                    
            In his letters Van Gogh repeatedly accused Reid
                
                        Alexander Reid
                        
                         (1854-1928) Scottish art dealer
                     of not caring enough about living artists, and only being concerned with making money. See letters 591, 598 and 604.
            
                        Alexander Reid
                        
                         (1854-1928) Scottish art dealer
                    
            Theo may have mentioned the rumours about the purchase of Seurat
                
                        Georges Seurat
                        
                         (1859-1891) French artist
                    ’s 
                            Models by the city of Paris in his previous letter. See exhib. cat. Paris 1991, p. 408.
            A few hours before he left for Arles, on 19 February 1888, Vincent went with Theo to Seurat
                
                        Georges Seurat
                        
                         (1859-1891) French artist
                    ’s studio (see letter 695) at 128bis boulevard de Clichy. 
                            Models and 
                            A Sunday afternoon on the island of La Grande Jatte
                         were probably among the large canvases they saw there; Van Gogh mentions them both in letter 710.
            
                        Georges Seurat
                        
                         (1859-1891) French artist
                    
            
                        Georges Seurat
                        
                         (1859-1891) French artist
                    
        
    
        
1r:1
My dear Theo,

Your letter gave me great pleasure, I thank you for it as well as for the 50-franc note.

I congratulate you heartily on Tersteeg’s letter — I think it’s absolutely satisfactory.

I’m convinced there’s nothing hurtful in his silence towards me, in any case he’d have expected you to give me his reply to read. And it’s much more practical for him having only to write to you, and as far as I’m concerned, if he doesn’t think what I’m doing is utterly bad, you’ll see, he’ll write me a line as soon as he’s seen my work. So once again, I’m happier with his simple and friendly reply than I could tell you.

You’ll have noticed that he states his willingness to make a purchase of a good quality Monticelli for his own collection. If you told him that we have a bouquet of flowers in our collection that is more artistic and more beautiful than a bouquet by Diaz.1
                

That Monticelli would sometimes take a bouquet of flowers in order to put on a single panel the whole range of his richest and most perfectly balanced tones. And that you have to go straight to Delacroix to find such an orchestration of colours.2 
1v:2
                

That — I’m referring to the painting at the Delarebeyrettes’3 — we currently know of another bouquet of very good quality and at a reasonable price, and that in any case we think it’s much finer than the Monticellis with figures, which are all over the place these days and belong to a period of decline in Monticelli’s talent.

I hope you’ll send him Gauguin’s fine seascape.4 But how pleased I am that Tersteeg has replied in this way.

When you write to him, say a word about Russell. When I write to Russell myself, I’ll talk about his paintings and I’ll ask him to do an exchange with me,5 because we’d want to mention him and show his paintings when it comes to the question of the modern-day Renaissance school.

I’ve just done a clump of apricot trees in a little fresh green orchard.6
                

Had some trouble with the sunset with figures and a bridge that I was talking to Bernard about.7 As the bad weather prevented me from working on the spot, I completely worked this study to death trying to finish it at home. 
1v:3
                

However, I started the same subject again immediately afterwards on another canvas, but as the weather was quite different, in a grey palette and without figures.8
                

      I wouldn’t think it a bad idea if you sent Tersteeg one of my studies — do you mean the Clichy bridge with the yellow sky and two houses reflected in the water?9
                

                

            
                    
                

            

                 That one, or the butterflies10 or the field of poppies11 might do. However, I hope to do better things here. If you happen to feel that way, you could tell Tersteeg that I myself think I have a better chance of sales in Holland with the studies of nature in the south, and that when Tersteeg comes to Paris in May he’ll find a consignment with some subjects from down here.12
                

And again, many thanks for all the initiatives you’ve taken for the Independents’ exhibition, all in all I’m really pleased that they’ve put them with the other Impressionists.13 But — although this time it makes no difference at all — in future my name must be put in the catalogue the way I sign it on the canvases, i.e. Vincent and not Vangogh, for the excellent reason that people here wouldn’t be able to pronounce that name.14 
1r:4
                

I’m returning herewith the letter from Tersteeg and the one from Russell — it will perhaps be interesting to keep the artists’ correspondence.15
                

If you included the little head of a Breton woman by our friend Bernard in your consignment, that wouldn’t be a bad idea.16 We must show him that all the Impressionists are good and that what they do is very varied.

I think our friend Reid regrets falling out, unfortunately there can be no question of offering him the same advantages again — that is, trying to let him have paintings on commission. It’s not enough to love paintings, and it seemed to me that he lacked warm feelings for painters.17 If he changes in that respect it won’t be overnight. Tersteeg was a personal friend of Mauve and many others, and he has that je ne sais quoi that wins art lovers over. You’ll see that what gives self-confidence is knowing people.

I’ll write more in the next few days, but wanted to congratulate you right away on the renewal of your relations with Holland.

Handshake.



Yours truly,

Vincent



The city of Paris pays practically nothing, would be sorry to see the Seurats in a provincial museum or a cellar — these paintings must stay in living hands.18 If Tersteeg was willing — — —. If we do the 3 permanent exhibitions, we’d need a large Seurat19 for Paris, one for London and one for Marseille.

            
        
            
                        Hermanus Gijsbertus Tersteeg (H.G.T., T. or Mr T.)
                        
                         (1845-1927) art dealer at the Goupil gallery in The Hague
                    
            
                        Adolphe Joseph Thomas Monticelli
                        
                         (1824-1886) French artist
                    
            
                        Narcisse Virgile Diaz de la Peña
                        
                         (1808-1876) French artist
                    
            See for Monticelli
                
                        Adolphe Joseph Thomas Monticelli
                        
                         (1824-1886) French artist
                    ’s 
                            Vase of flowers
                        : letter 578, n. 4.
                    
            
                        Adolphe Joseph Thomas Monticelli
                        
                         (1824-1886) French artist
                    
            
                        Adolphe Joseph Thomas Monticelli
                        
                         (1824-1886) French artist
                    
            
                        Ferdinand Victor Eugène Delacroix
                        
                         (1798-1863) French artist
                    
            Van Gogh had previously referred to ‘symphonies of colours’; this choice of words may derive from Charles Blanc
                
                        Charles Blanc
                        
                         (1813-1882) French writer
                    , 
                            Grammaire des arts du dessin
                         and 
                            Les artistes de mon temps
                         See letter 537, n. 7.
                    
            
                        Charles Blanc
                        
                         (1813-1882) French writer
                    
            
                        François Joseph Delarebeyrette
                        
                         (1825-1886) art dealer in Paris
                    
            In the 1880s François Joseph Delarebeyrette
                
                        François Joseph Delarebeyrette
                        
                         (1825-1886) art dealer in Paris
                    ’s gallery was located at 43 rue de Provence in Paris. He was the leading dealer in Monticelli
                
                        Adolphe Joseph Thomas Monticelli
                        
                         (1824-1886) French artist
                    ’s work. After his death in September 1886, his wife and his son Gabriel took over the running of the business. Theo and Reid
                
                        Alexander Reid
                        
                         (1854-1928) Scottish art dealer
                     regularly bought work by Monticelli there. See Fowle 2000, p. 94, and Nonne 2000, p. 42.We do not know which of Monticelli’s flower pieces Van Gogh had seen at Delarebeyrette’s; in 1886 the gallery had some forty works by Monticelli in stock. See Alauzen and Ripert 1969, p. 447.
            
                        Adolphe Joseph Thomas Monticelli
                        
                         (1824-1886) French artist
                    
            
                        François Joseph Delarebeyrette
                        
                         (1825-1886) art dealer in Paris
                    
            
                        Adolphe Joseph Thomas Monticelli
                        
                         (1824-1886) French artist
                    
            
                        Alexander Reid
                        
                         (1854-1928) Scottish art dealer
                    
            
                        Paul (Eugène Henri) Gauguin
                        
                         (1848-1903) French artist
                    
            See for Gauguin
                
                        Paul (Eugène Henri) Gauguin
                        
                         (1848-1903) French artist
                    ’s 
                            The beach at Dieppe
                        : letter 582, n. 5. Tersteeg
                
                        Hermanus Gijsbertus Tersteeg (H.G.T., T. or Mr T.)
                        
                         (1845-1927) art dealer at the Goupil gallery in The Hague
                     had asked Theo to send him a number of ‘modern’ paintings (see letter 592). At the end of March 1888 Theo sent a consignment to the Hague branch. It contained one work each by Degas
                
                        (Hilaire Germain) Edgar Degas
                        
                         (1834-1917) French artist
                    , Monet
                
                        Claude Oscar Monet
                        
                         (1840-1926) French artist
                    , Sisley
                
                        Alfred Sisley
                        
                         (1839-1899) French artist
                    , Camille Pissarro
                
                        Camille Jacob Pissarro
                        
                         (1830-1903) French artist
                    , Guillaumin
                
                        (Jean Baptiste) Armand Guillaumin
                        
                         (1841-1927) French artist
                    , Gauguin
                
                        Paul (Eugène Henri) Gauguin
                        
                         (1848-1903) French artist
                    , Van Gogh (The Seine with the Clichy bridge (F 303 / JH 1323), after which is the letter sketch of the same name F - / JH 1324; see n. 9 below) and Toulouse-Lautrec
                
                        Henri Marie Raymond de Toulouse-Lautrec
                        
                         (1864-1901) French artist
                    , and two by Monticelli
                
                        Adolphe Joseph Thomas Monticelli
                        
                         (1824-1886) French artist
                    . See exhib. cat. Amsterdam 1999, p. 81. On 18 April Monticelli’s 
                            Women with jewellery (Femmes aux bijoux) was sold to the Amsterdam art dealer E.J. van Wisselingh
                
                        Elbert Jan van Wisselingh
                        
                         (1848-1912) Dutch art dealer
                    ; the other paintings remained unsold and were sent back to Paris on 9 June (RKD, Goupil Ledgers and Jampoller 1986, p. 51).
            
                        Hermanus Gijsbertus Tersteeg (H.G.T., T. or Mr T.)
                        
                         (1845-1927) art dealer at the Goupil gallery in The Hague
                    
            
                        Paul (Eugène Henri) Gauguin
                        
                         (1848-1903) French artist
                    
            
                        Hermanus Gijsbertus Tersteeg (H.G.T., T. or Mr T.)
                        
                         (1845-1927) art dealer at the Goupil gallery in The Hague
                    
            
                        (Hilaire Germain) Edgar Degas
                        
                         (1834-1917) French artist
                    
            
                        Claude Oscar Monet
                        
                         (1840-1926) French artist
                    
            
                        Alfred Sisley
                        
                         (1839-1899) French artist
                    
            
                        Camille Jacob Pissarro
                        
                         (1830-1903) French artist
                    
            
                        (Jean Baptiste) Armand Guillaumin
                        
                         (1841-1927) French artist
                    
            
                        Paul (Eugène Henri) Gauguin
                        
                         (1848-1903) French artist
                    
            
                        Henri Marie Raymond de Toulouse-Lautrec
                        
                         (1864-1901) French artist
                    
            
                        Adolphe Joseph Thomas Monticelli
                        
                         (1824-1886) French artist
                    
            
                        Elbert Jan van Wisselingh
                        
                         (1848-1912) Dutch art dealer
                    
            
                        John Peter Russell
                        
                         (1858-1930) Australian artist
                    
            This exchange was discussed several times between March and July 1888, but does not seem to have gone ahead. Van Gogh had probably already exchanged work with Russell
                
                        John Peter Russell
                        
                         (1858-1930) Australian artist
                     in Paris; see letter 569, n. 13. Russell’s 
                             Vincent van Gogh
                         and the 
                            Seated female nude
                         that has meanwhile been attributed to him (both Amsterdam, Van Gogh Museum) may have been obtained by way of exchange. Russell owned two paintings by Van Gogh – only one of which, Shoes (F 332 / JH 1234), can now be identified – and one lithograph, ‘At eternity’s gate’ (F 1662 / JH 268). See cat. Amsterdam 2011.In August 1888 Van Gogh sent twelve drawings to Russell; see letters 652, n. 3 and 654, n. 1. This was not, though, related to the exchange suggested here.
            
                        John Peter Russell
                        
                         (1858-1930) Australian artist
                    
            
      Orchard with apricot trees in blossom (F 553 / JH 1387) or Orchard with apricot trees in blossom (F 556 / JH 1383). The description ‘fresh green’ is most applicable to the former work. Both paintings are of apricot trees (with thanks to Hans den Nijs, Experimental Plant Systematics, University of Amsterdam). The pink orchard (F 555 / JH 1380) was painted later; see letter 594.
            
                        Emile Bernard
                        
                         (1868-1941) French artist and writer
                    
            All that survives of this study is the fragment Walking couple (F 544 / JH 1369). Van Gogh described the study in letter 587 to Bernard
                
                        Emile Bernard
                        
                         (1868-1941) French artist and writer
                     (which was enclosed with letter 588 to Theo), and made the letter sketch The Langlois bridge with walking couple (F - JH 1370) after it.
            
                        Emile Bernard
                        
                         (1868-1941) French artist and writer
                    
            
      The Langlois bridge (F 400 / JH 1371).
            
                        Hermanus Gijsbertus Tersteeg (H.G.T., T. or Mr T.)
                        
                         (1845-1927) art dealer at the Goupil gallery in The Hague
                    
            
      The Seine with the Clichy bridge (F 303 / JH 1323).
            
      Probably  Grass and butterflies (F 460 / JH 1676). The painting is now thought to belong to the Paris period (it had previously been dated to spring 1889). See cat. Amsterdam 2011.
            Probably Poppies in a wheatfield (F 562 / JH 1483), which likewise appears to date from the Paris period (previously dated June 1888). See cat. Amsterdam 2011.
            
                        Hermanus Gijsbertus Tersteeg (H.G.T., T. or Mr T.)
                        
                         (1845-1927) art dealer at the Goupil gallery in The Hague
                    
            
                        Tersteeg
                
                        Hermanus Gijsbertus Tersteeg (H.G.T., T. or Mr T.)
                        
                         (1845-1927) art dealer at the Goupil gallery in The Hague
                    ’s trip to Paris took place a little later, in the first half of June: see letter 625.
            
                        Hermanus Gijsbertus Tersteeg (H.G.T., T. or Mr T.)
                        
                         (1845-1927) art dealer at the Goupil gallery in The Hague
                    
            Van Gogh exhibited three works at the Indépendants; see letter 582, n. 9. Angrand
                
                        Charles Angrand
                        
                         (1854-1926) French artist
                    , Anquetin
                
                        Louis Emile Anquetin
                        
                         (1861-1932) French artist
                    , Lucien Pissarro
                
                        Lucien Pissarro
                        
                         (1863-1944) French artist, son of Camille Pissarro
                    , Seurat
                
                        Georges Seurat
                        
                         (1859-1891) French artist
                     and Signac
                
                        Paul Signac
                        
                         (1863-1935) French artist
                     also had work there.
            Theo must have sent Vincent a copy of the catalogue, where it does indeed say ‘Van Gogh’, with Theo’s home address. See for the catalogue letter 582, n. 9.
                    
            
                        Charles Angrand
                        
                         (1854-1926) French artist
                    
            
                        Louis Emile Anquetin
                        
                         (1861-1932) French artist
                    
            
                        Lucien Pissarro
                        
                         (1863-1944) French artist, son of Camille Pissarro
                    
            
                        Georges Seurat
                        
                         (1859-1891) French artist
                    
            
                        Paul Signac
                        
                         (1863-1935) French artist
                    
            
                        Hermanus Gijsbertus Tersteeg (H.G.T., T. or Mr T.)
                        
                         (1845-1927) art dealer at the Goupil gallery in The Hague
                    
            
                        John Peter Russell
                        
                         (1858-1930) Australian artist
                    
            These letters from Tersteeg
                
                        Hermanus Gijsbertus Tersteeg (H.G.T., T. or Mr T.)
                        
                         (1845-1927) art dealer at the Goupil gallery in The Hague
                     and Russell
                
                        John Peter Russell
                        
                         (1858-1930) Australian artist
                     do not appear to have survived.
            
                        Hermanus Gijsbertus Tersteeg (H.G.T., T. or Mr T.)
                        
                         (1845-1927) art dealer at the Goupil gallery in The Hague
                    
            
                        John Peter Russell
                        
                         (1858-1930) Australian artist
                    
            
                        Emile Bernard
                        
                         (1868-1941) French artist and writer
                    
            See for the consignment n. 4 above; it did not include a work by Bernard
                
                        Emile Bernard
                        
                         (1868-1941) French artist and writer
                    . We have been unable to identify his ‘little head of a Breton woman’.
            
                        Emile Bernard
                        
                         (1868-1941) French artist and writer
                    
            
                        Alexander Reid
                        
                         (1854-1928) Scottish art dealer
                    
            In his letters Van Gogh repeatedly accused Reid
                
                        Alexander Reid
                        
                         (1854-1928) Scottish art dealer
                     of not caring enough about living artists, and only being concerned with making money. See letters 591, 598 and 604.
            
                        Hermanus Gijsbertus Tersteeg (H.G.T., T. or Mr T.)
                        
                         (1845-1927) art dealer at the Goupil gallery in The Hague
                    
            
                        Anton Mauve
                        
                         (1838-1888) Dutch artist
                    
            
                        Alexander Reid
                        
                         (1854-1928) Scottish art dealer
                    
            
                        Georges Seurat
                        
                         (1859-1891) French artist
                    
            Theo may have mentioned the rumours about the purchase of Seurat
                
                        Georges Seurat
                        
                         (1859-1891) French artist
                    ’s 
                            Models by the city of Paris in his previous letter. See exhib. cat. Paris 1991, p. 408.
            
                        Hermanus Gijsbertus Tersteeg (H.G.T., T. or Mr T.)
                        
                         (1845-1927) art dealer at the Goupil gallery in The Hague
                    
            A few hours before he left for Arles, on 19 February 1888, Vincent went with Theo to Seurat
                
                        Georges Seurat
                        
                         (1859-1891) French artist
                    ’s studio (see letter 695) at 128bis boulevard de Clichy. 
                            Models and 
                            A Sunday afternoon on the island of La Grande Jatte
                         were probably among the large canvases they saw there; Van Gogh mentions them both in letter 710.
            
                        Georges Seurat
                        
                         (1859-1891) French artist
                    
            
                        Georges Seurat
                        
                         (1859-1891) French artist
                    
        
    
        

See for Monticelli’s 
                            Vase of flowers
                        : letter 578, n. 4.
                    
                


      Van Gogh had previously referred to ‘symphonies of colours’; this choice of words may derive from Charles Blanc, 
                            Grammaire des arts du dessin
                         and 
                            Les artistes de mon temps
                         See letter 537, n. 7.
                    
                


In the 1880s François Joseph Delarebeyrette’s gallery was located at 43 rue de Provence in Paris. He was the leading dealer in Monticelli’s work. After his death in September 1886, his wife and his son Gabriel took over the running of the business. Theo and Reid regularly bought work by Monticelli there. See Fowle 2000, p. 94, and Nonne 2000, p. 42.
We do not know which of Monticelli’s flower pieces Van Gogh had seen at Delarebeyrette’s; in 1886 the gallery had some forty works by Monticelli in stock. See Alauzen and Ripert 1969, p. 447.
                


See for Gauguin’s 
                            The beach at Dieppe
                        : letter 582, n. 5. Tersteeg had asked Theo to send him a number of ‘modern’ paintings (see letter 592). At the end of March 1888 Theo sent a consignment to the Hague branch. It contained one work each by Degas, Monet, Sisley, Camille Pissarro, Guillaumin, Gauguin, Van Gogh (The Seine with the Clichy bridge (F 303 / JH 1323), after which is the letter sketch of the same name F - / JH 1324; see n. 9 below) and Toulouse-Lautrec, and two by Monticelli. See exhib. cat. Amsterdam 1999, p. 81. On 18 April Monticelli’s 
                            Women with jewellery (Femmes aux bijoux) was sold to the Amsterdam art dealer E.J. van Wisselingh; the other paintings remained unsold and were sent back to Paris on 9 June (RKD, Goupil Ledgers and Jampoller 1986, p. 51).
                


This exchange was discussed several times between March and July 1888, but does not seem to have gone ahead. Van Gogh had probably already exchanged work with Russell in Paris; see letter 569, n. 13. Russell’s 
                             Vincent van Gogh
                         and the 
                            Seated female nude
                         that has meanwhile been attributed to him (both Amsterdam, Van Gogh Museum) may have been obtained by way of exchange. Russell owned two paintings by Van Gogh – only one of which, Shoes (F 332 / JH 1234), can now be identified – and one lithograph, ‘At eternity’s gate’ (F 1662 / JH 268). See cat. Amsterdam 2011.
      In August 1888 Van Gogh sent twelve drawings to Russell; see letters 652, n. 3 and 654, n. 1. This was not, though, related to the exchange suggested here.
                



      Orchard with apricot trees in blossom (F 553 / JH 1387) or Orchard with apricot trees in blossom (F 556 / JH 1383). The description ‘fresh green’ is most applicable to the former work. Both paintings are of apricot trees (with thanks to Hans den Nijs, Experimental Plant Systematics, University of Amsterdam). The pink orchard (F 555 / JH 1380) was painted later; see letter 594.
                


All that survives of this study is the fragment Walking couple (F 544 / JH 1369). Van Gogh described the study in letter 587 to Bernard (which was enclosed with letter 588 to Theo), and made the letter sketch The Langlois bridge with walking couple (F - JH 1370) after it.
                



      The Langlois bridge (F 400 / JH 1371).
                



      The Seine with the Clichy bridge (F 303 / JH 1323).
                



      Probably  Grass and butterflies (F 460 / JH 1676). The painting is now thought to belong to the Paris period (it had previously been dated to spring 1889). See cat. Amsterdam 2011.
                


Probably Poppies in a wheatfield (F 562 / JH 1483), which likewise appears to date from the Paris period (previously dated June 1888). See cat. Amsterdam 2011.
                



                        Tersteeg’s trip to Paris took place a little later, in the first half of June: see letter 625.
                


Van Gogh exhibited three works at the Indépendants; see letter 582, n. 9. Angrand, Anquetin, Lucien Pissarro, Seurat and Signac also had work there.
                


Theo must have sent Vincent a copy of the catalogue, where it does indeed say ‘Van Gogh’, with Theo’s home address. See for the catalogue letter 582, n. 9.
                    
                


These letters from Tersteeg and Russell do not appear to have survived.
                


See for the consignment n. 4 above; it did not include a work by Bernard. We have been unable to identify his ‘little head of a Breton woman’.
                


In his letters Van Gogh repeatedly accused Reid of not caring enough about living artists, and only being concerned with making money. See letters 591, 598 and 604.
                


Theo may have mentioned the rumours about the purchase of Seurat’s 
                            Models by the city of Paris in his previous letter. See exhib. cat. Paris 1991, p. 408.
                


A few hours before he left for Arles, on 19 February 1888, Vincent went with Theo to Seurat’s studio (see letter 695) at 128bis boulevard de Clichy. 
                            Models and 
                            A Sunday afternoon on the island of La Grande Jatte
                         were probably among the large canvases they saw there; Van Gogh mentions them both in letter 710.
                

            
        
            
                        Adolphe Joseph Thomas Monticelli
                        
                         (1824-1886) French artist
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                         (1813-1882) French writer
                    
            
                        François Joseph Delarebeyrette
                        
                         (1825-1886) art dealer in Paris
                    
            
                        Adolphe Joseph Thomas Monticelli
                        
                         (1824-1886) French artist
                    
            
                        Alexander Reid
                        
                         (1854-1928) Scottish art dealer
                    
            
                        Paul (Eugène Henri) Gauguin
                        
                         (1848-1903) French artist
                    
            
                        Hermanus Gijsbertus Tersteeg (H.G.T., T. or Mr T.)
                        
                         (1845-1927) art dealer at the Goupil gallery in The Hague
                    
            
                        (Hilaire Germain) Edgar Degas
                        
                         (1834-1917) French artist
                    
            
                        Claude Oscar Monet
                        
                         (1840-1926) French artist
                    
            
                        Alfred Sisley
                        
                         (1839-1899) French artist
                    
            
                        Camille Jacob Pissarro
                        
                         (1830-1903) French artist
                    
            
                        (Jean Baptiste) Armand Guillaumin
                        
                         (1841-1927) French artist
                    
            
                        Paul (Eugène Henri) Gauguin
                        
                         (1848-1903) French artist
                    
            
                        Henri Marie Raymond de Toulouse-Lautrec
                        
                         (1864-1901) French artist
                    
            
                        Adolphe Joseph Thomas Monticelli
                        
                         (1824-1886) French artist
                    
            
                        Elbert Jan van Wisselingh
                        
                         (1848-1912) Dutch art dealer
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                         (1858-1930) Australian artist
                    
            
                        Emile Bernard
                        
                         (1868-1941) French artist and writer
                    
            
                        Hermanus Gijsbertus Tersteeg (H.G.T., T. or Mr T.)
                        
                         (1845-1927) art dealer at the Goupil gallery in The Hague
                    
            
                        Charles Angrand
                        
                         (1854-1926) French artist
                    
            
                        Louis Emile Anquetin
                        
                         (1861-1932) French artist
                    
            
                        Lucien Pissarro
                        
                         (1863-1944) French artist, son of Camille Pissarro
                    
            
                        Georges Seurat
                        
                         (1859-1891) French artist
                    
            
                        Paul Signac
                        
                         (1863-1935) French artist
                    
            
                        Hermanus Gijsbertus Tersteeg (H.G.T., T. or Mr T.)
                        
                         (1845-1927) art dealer at the Goupil gallery in The Hague
                    
            
                        John Peter Russell
                        
                         (1858-1930) Australian artist
                    
            
                        Emile Bernard
                        
                         (1868-1941) French artist and writer
                    
            
                        Alexander Reid
                        
                         (1854-1928) Scottish art dealer
                    
            
                        Georges Seurat
                        
                         (1859-1891) French artist
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                         (1859-1891) French artist
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